1 No. 79752 2 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 3 Supreme Court Nan 05 2021 11:49 a.m. 4 MAZEN ALOTAIBI. 5 Elizabeth A. Brown District Court Calery of Suprespe Gowrt Petitioner/Appellant 6 Department 23 7 VS. 8 RENEE BAKER. WARDEN LOVELOCK CORRECTIONAL CENTER; AND JAMES DZURENDA, 9 DIRECTÓR OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS. 10 11 Respondents/Appellees 12 13 14 On Appeal from the Decision and Order of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, the Honorable Stefany 15 Miley, Denying Appellant's Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas 16 Corpus 17 18 PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT PURSUANT TO 19 **NRAP 40B** 20 CLARK HILL PLC 21 DOMINIC P. GENTILE 22 Nevada Bar No. 1923 23 A. WILLIAM MAUPIN 24 Nevada Bar No. 1315 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 500 25 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 (702) 862-8300 26 Attorneys for Petitioner/Appellant 27 **MAZEN ALOTAIBI**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2 MAZEN ALOTAIBI,
3 Pe
5 vs.
6 RENEE BAKER, WA

1

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Petitioner/Appellant,

RENEE BAKER, WARDEN LOVELOCK CORRECTIONAL CENTER; AND JAMES DZURENDA, DIRECTOR OF THE NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondents/Appellees

Supreme Court No. 79752

District Court Case No. A-18-755145-W Department 23

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record hereby certify that no corporate or other entities are non-governmental parties in this case the identities of which need be disclosed herein pursuant to NRAP 26(a). However, the undersigned counsel of record certified in contradistinction, that the following persons qualify as persons whose identities must be disclosed herein pursuant to the provisions of NRAP that the following are persons whose identities must be disclosed herein otherwise pursuant to the provisions of NRAP 26. These representations are made in order that the judges of this Court may evaluate the possible need for disqualification or recusal.

- Mazen Alotaibi
 Petitioner/Appellant;
- 2. "A.J. Dang," (a juvenile at the time of the events at issue herein), *Complaining Witness*;

1	5. Don P. Chanez (Nevada Bar No. 3493)
2	Attorney for Appellant Mazen Alotaibi before the Eighth Judicial Distric
Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley, for purposes of all pre	Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley, for purposes of all pre-trial, trial, and
4	sentencing proceedings in this matter;
5	4. Dominic P. Gentile (Nevada Bar No. 1923)
6	Vincent Savarese III (Nevada Bar No. 2467) Kory L. Kaplan (Nevada Bar No. 13164)
7	GORDON SILVER
8	Attorneys for Appellant Mazen Alotaibi before the Eighth Judicial Distric
9	Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley, for purposes of all post-verdict, trial-
10	related, pre-sentencing proceedings in this matter;
11	5. Dominic P. Gentile (Nevada Bar No. 1923)
12	Vincent Savarese III (Nevada Bar No. 2467)
13	Clark Hill PLLC
14	Attorneys for Appellant Mazen Alotaibi before the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada for purposes of direct appeal from Appellant's conviction before the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley, in this
the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Stefany M matter;	the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley, in this matter;
16	6. Dominic P. Gentile (Nevada Bar No. 1923)
17	Vincent Savarese III (Nevada Bar No. 2467) Clark Hill PLC
18	
19	Attorneys for Appellant Mazen Alotaibi before the Supreme Court of the United States for purposes of seeking the issuance of a Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada with respect to Appellant's conviction before the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Stefany
20	conviction before the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley and its Affirmance on direct appeal by the Nevada Supreme Court:
21	Miley, and its Affirmance on direct appeal by the Nevada Supreme Court;
22	7. Dominic P. Gentile (Nevada Bar No. 1923) Vincent Savarese III (Nevada Bar No. 2467)
23	Clark Hill PLC
24	Attorneys for Appellant Mazen Alotaibi before the Eighth Judicial District
25	Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley, for purposes of Appellant's Petition for Post-Trial Writ of Habeas Corpus in this matter and all proceedings related thereto.
26	increso.
27	

8. Dominic P. Gentile (Nevada Bar No. 1923) Vincent Savarese III (Nevada Bar No. 2467) A. William Maupin (Nevada Bar No. 1315) Clark Hill PLC Attorneys for Appellant Mazen Alotaibi in the instant Petition for Review

TABLE OF CONTENTS NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE.....i I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND.....2 II. STANDARD FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW4 III. IV. ARGUMENT......5 The Substantive Claim of Ineffective Assistance in the Trial Court......5 The Ruling of the Court of Appeals......10 B. V. CONCLUSION 10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

2	Cases
3	Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112 (1992)5
4	Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev. 682 (2005)5
5	<i>McCoy v. Louisiana</i> , 138 S. Ct. 1500 (2018)
6	Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001 (2004)
7	Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)passim
8	Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 683 P. 2d 504 (1984)
9	Statutes
10	NRS 200.364
11	Other Authorities
12	ABA Criminal Justice Standards Section 4-5.2 (d)5
13	Rules
14	NRAP 40(B)
15	NRAP 40(B)(a)4, 5
16	NRAP 40(B)(g)11
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
J	

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This is an appeal from a district court Order Denying Post-Conviction relief brought under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), for ineffective assistance of counsel at trial.¹ The Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's decision and denied rehearing. Appellant petitions the full Supreme Court for review under NRAP 40(B).

This is no ordinary ineffective assistance case. This appeal arises from the denial of an ineffective assistance claim despite the district court's unequivocal finding that trial counsel was ineffective for failure to discuss a vital strategic decision with the appellant – whether to accept an offer by the district court to instruct the trial jury on a "lesser related offense" that carried a substantially lesser sentence than the primary offenses charged in the matter. This finding was ultimately not contested by trial counsel.

Appellant was tried below on a myriad of sexual offenses charges involving a minor under the age 14 years. The primary substantive offense, non-consensual Sexual Assault, was punishable by life imprisonment with parole eligibility after 35 years. The district court offered a lesser related instruction concerning Statutory Sexual Seduction – punishable by one to five years imprisonment. This was unilaterally rejected by trial counsel *without consulting the client*. As discussed below, appellant was convicted of Sexual Assault and given life terms in the Nevada Department of Prisons. In the post-conviction writ proceedings, the district court found that this unilateral waiver constituted substandard and ineffective representation. The district court, however, further determined that there was no prejudice, positing that there was no reasonable probability that the outcome – conviction of the primary substantive offense and imposition of a significantly

¹ Under *Strickland*, there are two prongs of proof that must be satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence: ineffective assistance and prejudice. *See Id*. 687-88, and *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012 (2004).

longer sentence -- would have been changed by accepting the lesser related instruction suggested by the trial court. In this, the district court concluded that another charged offense instruction, based upon four separate charges of Lewdness with a Minor, cured any ineffective representation claimed in the petition below. Importantly, those offenses were punishable by either life imprisonment with parole eligibility in 10 years, or a fixed period of 20 years with parole eligibility after two years in custody. Appellant contends that this offered him little in the way of a safe haven for a more lenient conviction, and that the waiver undermined any chance at a significantly lesser sentence based upon evidence in the record that the actual crime committed did not involve forced sexual conduct. Accordingly, both prongs of *Strickland* were satisfied. See n. 1, *supra*.

The Nevada Court of Appeals did not reach the substantive *Strickland* analysis undertaken by the district court. Instead, the Court suggested found that there was

The Nevada Court of Appeals did not reach the substantive *Strickland* analysis undertaken by the district court. Instead, the Court *sua sponte* found that there was no prejudice for a different reason – concluding that because appellant never stated at the post-conviction phase that he would have accepted the offer to give the instruction had he been asked to consider it, he did not prove the prejudice prong of *Strickland* by a preponderance of the evidence. Appellant respectfully contends that this ruling is clearly erroneous; it is certainly unsubstantiated in the Order of Affirmance by any statutory or case authority. As indicated, neither party raised this as an issue in this case. Accordingly, appellant contends that this Court should review the matter under NRAP 40(B).

II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Appellant was charged with nine sexual offenses, including among others, sexual assault, kidnapping and lewdness with a minor. A Clark County trial jury convicted appellant on two counts of sexual assault of a minor under the age of 14. The district court imposed two concurrent sentences of life imprisonment with parole eligibility after 35 years. The district court gave a separate instruction on the

26

27

28

four separate charges of lewdness with a minor, upon which the jury rendered two Beyond the sentences for sexual verdicts of acquittal and two verdicts of guilt. assault, the other charges in total -- including lewdness and kidnapping -- resulted in guilty verdicts with concurrent sentences ranging from "time served" to life imprisonment with parole eligibility after 10 years.

The evidence and trial proceedings underscore the prejudice from trial counsel's unilateral waiver of the statutory sexual seduction instruction. Initially the complainant provided inconsistent accounts of the events in question and demonstrated behavior inconsistent with forceable sexual assault. Accordingly, at the close of evidence, during a discussion regarding jury instructions with counsel for the parties outside the presence of the jury, the district court invited defense trial counsel to request a jury instruction with respect to the lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction under the then-applicable provisions of NRS 200.364 -to offset the charges of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under the Age of 14 Years. (Evidentiary hearing at 26:3-15, 29:22—29:1; App. Item 2, Bates 010, 012-013, 020). The district court expressly observed that there was indeed evidence of record that the subject minor had in fact consented to engage in the sexual activity at issue, and further stated that the court would be inclined to provide the instruction if requested to do so by defense counsel. Id. Trial counsel resisted this entreaty, expressing his preference to "[throw] caution to the wind and pursue an "all or nothing" instruction strategy. Id. at 26:3-15, 38:16-17. The district court then directed trial counsel to spend the ensuing lunch hour with appellant to advise him with respect to every instruction to be given; to ensure that the appellant understood the sentencing ramifications of waiving or requesting a lesser-related offense instruction with respect to Statutory Sexual Seduction; and to obtain appellant's informed consent to forgo such a jury instruction. Id. At 31:11-14 (App. Item 2, Bates 014).

During the lunch hour, trial counsel spent most of the time discussing whether appellant should testify. Although trial counsel was aware that appellant did not comprehend the lesser-related offense concept or the distinctions between the two offenses (*Id.* At 38:24-39:1), he did not explain to appellant the sentencing differences between Sexual Assault and Statutory Sexual Seduction. This was aggravated by the fact that appellant is a Saudi Arabian citizen unfamiliar with American legal concepts (Id. at 39:2-3, 34:14-19, and 35:5-6).² Unhappily, trial counsel unilaterally declined the invitation to give the lesser-related Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction. At the post-conviction writ proceedings below, counsel admitted that this was a mistake.

As stated, the district court denied relief and this appeal followed.

III. STANDARD FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

A decision of the Court of Appeals is only reviewable under NRAP 40(B) via Petition for Review by the Nevada Supreme Court. NRAP 40(B)(a) provide in pertinent part:

A party aggrieved by a decision of the Court of Appeals may file a petition for review with the clerk of the Supreme Court. The petition must state the question(s) presented for review and the reason(s) review is warranted. Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion. The following, while neither controlling nor fully measuring the Supreme Court's discretion, are factors that will be considered in the exercise of that discretion:

- (1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance;
- (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; or
- (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.

² There is some dispute over whether an interpreter was present during the break. The district court found that an interpreter was available over the lunch hour while counsel suggests otherwise. Despite this issue, it is certainly reasonable that it would have been difficult to obtain a knowing consent to accept or waive the instruction.

This situation satisfies subsections (1), (2) and (3) of Rule 40(B)(a). It involves a conflation of principles under *Strickland* not yet reached by this court and raises fundamental issues of criminal trial practice throughout this State.

IV. ARGUMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

A. The Substantive Claim of Ineffective Assistance in the Trial Court

To successfully prosecute an ineffective assistance of counsel claim under Strickland v. Washington, the petitioner must satisfy two prongs of proof: first, that counsel's performance is deficient in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, second, that prejudice resulted in that there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome absent counsel's errors. 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984) and Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432-33, 683 P. 2d 504, 505 (1984). Both prongs must be established by a preponderance of the evidence. See Means, supra. Stated differently, the ineffective assistance must undermine confidence in the outcome. 466 U.S. 682-89. There are two competing corollaries – first, that strategic decisions based upon plausible alternative decisions of counsel are largely unchallengeable and, second, that critical decisions on strategy must be discussed with the client. See Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 117 (1992), as well as ABA Criminal Justice Standards Section 4-5.2 (d). Although these analyses are fact intensive, and the district court's findings of fact are given deference, the questions of law regarding ineffective assistance are reviewed de novo Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev. 682, 686 (2005).

The trial court summarized the salient testimony on post-conviction from appellant's trial counsel:

At the time of the evidentiary hearing, [counsel] testified that the Petitioner was not present when Counsel and the Court discussed jury instructions. However, he was directed by the Court to personally go through each of the jury instructions with the Petitioner during the lunch break. During the hour and fifteen-minute lunch break, [counsel] [sic] testified that he spent most of that time attempting to persuade Petitioner to testify. [Counsel] testified that the Petitioner had decided against testifying after watching the examination of other witnesses.

[Counsel] testified that there was no interpreter present during the hour and fifteen-minute discuss [sic].³ [Counsel] testified that he briefly went over the elements of sexual assault and lewdness, explaining that these charges would come down to whether Petitioner could show that the victim consented.

[Counsel] testified that during the hour and fifteen-minute lunch break, he did not spend any time discussing the lesser-related sexual seduction instruction, nor did he discuss or explain the sentencing differences between Statutory Sexual Seduction and the other charges. He did however explain the sentencing differences between Sexual Assault and Lewdness. [Counsel] said he never received consent from his client to reject the instruction for Statutory Sexual Seduction.

[Counsel] testified that in hindsight he believes the judge was trying to telegraph that he should ask for the related instruction and that he should not have made the decision to reject the instruction without obtaining informed consent from petitioner.

In fact, after the trial, jurors asked him why there was not an instruction for statutory rape.

COURT FINDS, [counsel's] testimony credible.

Trial counsel freely admitted that he did not discuss the trial court's suggestion with appellant. Under *Strickland*, the district court found in pertinent part as follows:

Pursuant to the two-prog test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, COURT FINDS, Petitioner's trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to review all jury instruction discussions with the Petitioner as explicitly direct [sic] by the Court. . . .

This satisfied the first prong of *Strickland*. The district court went on to resolve the second prong:

COURT FINDS, Petitioner's trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request the Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction because it was a legitimate, tactical decision that could have led to acquittal. Therefore, COURT FINDS, this decision was not the unreasonable allor-noting strategy as described by the Petitioner since the State had also charged Lewdness with A Child under 14 years of Age as an alternative to the Sexual Assault charges. (Record citation omitted.) The jury was not left with a strictly binary decision between complete acquittal and conviction for [sexual assault.] Had the jury believed the Petitioner's defense of consent, then the jury had the option to find the anal and oral penetration of [the alleged victim] to be Lewdness with a Child Under 14 Years of Age.

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

³ See n. 2.

This analysis, of course, is severely undermined by the severity of sentences for Lewdness – Life with parole or a fixed term of 20 years – and the relative lenience of a 1 to 5-year sentence for Statutory Sexual Seduction. It makes little sense that the other instruction on lewdness cured the ineffective assistance in waiving a much more lenient criminal liability construct. Appellant was convicted on two sexual assault charges and was convicted on two of four Lewdness charges. This means that the jury cannot have concluded that the Lewdness charges were a vehicle for a compromise or alternative lesser-related verdict. Importantly, the trial court also rightfully felt that the lesser-related offense of Statutory Sexual Seduction fit the evidence of record.

The *Strickland* elements of proof seriously understate what happened here. The underlying charge of sexual assault carried a lengthy sentence; trial counsel was given an opportunity to discuss with the appellant a lesser related offense instruction suggested by the trial court that would carry a much lighter sentence. Counsel admitted under oath that no such discussion occurred and made a record that refusal was based in part upon language barrier problems, and that he felt as a matter of strategy that an all or nothing approach would be in the best interest of the client. While strategic decisions made by counsel after investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable, that principle must be tempered in application where the decision is so critical to the defense. See discussion of McCoy v. Louisiana, 138 S. Ct. 1500 (2018), infra. Here, based upon counsel's testimony, the trial court seemed to be telegraphing the importance of giving the alternate lesser related instruction. The result – the trial court conflated of these two competing corollary principles under Strickland that implicates this Court's NRAP 40(B) review. In short, this strategic decision does not trump the failure to properly advise and assist the client because the choices were never cleared with him.

We now face the specter of non-communication with a second language

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