IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MAZEN ALOTAIBI,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 02 2021 03:48 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

CASE NO: 79752

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COMES NOW the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through his Chief Deputy, TALEEN PANDUKHT, and files this Answer to Petition for Review pursuant to Rule 40B of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure and this Court's Order Directing Answer to Petition for Review, filed January 21, 2021.

This answer is based on the following memorandum of points and authorities and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

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

Appellant claims that requiring a petitioner to prove "affirmation that the petitioner would have exercised any particular option had proper advice been given by counsel" allows the district court to use it as an excuse to not apply the second prong of Strickland. Petition, at 10. Appellant completely overlooks that this is exactly how the prejudice prong of Strickland works—Appellant must show, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different.

In the instant case, Appellant cannot demonstrate that had counsel discussed the jury instructions at issue with him, the outcome would have been different. First, as the Court of Appeals determined, Appellant did not state at his evidentiary hearing on the matter that he would have agreed to request the jury instruction if his counsel had presented it to him. The Court of Appeals found:

> Alotaibi argued his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to discuss with him whether they should have requested a jury instruction for a lesser-related offense. At the evidentiary hearing conducted in this matter, Alotaibi did not present

evidence regarding whether he would have agreed to request such an instruction. Thus, Alotaibi did not demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that he would have agreed to request such an instruction. Therefore, he did not demonstrate a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial but for counsel's failure to discuss this issue with him. Accordingly, we conclude the district court did not err by denying this claim, and we

ORDER the judgment of the district court AFFIRMED.

Order of Affirmance, No. 79752-COA, October 16, 2020, at2.

The Court of Appeals specifically determined that the burden was on Appellant to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that he would have agreed to such an instruction and the outcome of trial would have been different. Instead, Appellant presented no evidence that he would have even requested the instruction, or that requesting the instruction would have changed the outcome of trial. Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly found that Appellant did not demonstrate prejudice by a preponderance of the evidence.

Second, even had counsel informed Appellant of the jury instruction, Appellant was not entitled to a jury instruction on Statutory Sexual Seduction because Statutory Sexual Seduction is not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor under Fourteen Years of Age. In its Order of Affirmance, this Court explicitly found that Statutory Sexual Seduction is not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age:

> In this appeal, we are asked to determine whether, under the statutory definitions existing in 2012, the offense of

statutory sexual seduction is a lesser-included offense of sexual assault when that offense is committed against a minor under 14 years of age. Under the elements test, for an uncharged offense to be a lesser-included offense of the charged offense so that the defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on the lesser offense, all of the elements of the lesser offense must be included in the greater, charged offense. In applying the elements test in this case, we must resolve two issues related to the elements that make up the charged and uncharged offenses. First, we consider whether a statutory element that serves only to determine the appropriate sentence for the offense but has no bearing as to guilt for the offense is an element of the offense for purposes of the lesser-included-offense analysis. We hold that it is not. Second, we consider how to apply the elements test when a lesser offense may be committed by alternative means. We hold that the elements of only one of the alternative means need be included in the greater, charged offense to warrant an instruction on the lesser offense.

Applying these principles to the statutes at issue, we conclude that statutory sexual seduction, as defined in NRS 200.364(5)(a) (2009), is not a lesser-included offense of sexual assault even where the victim is a minor, NRS 200.366(1) (2007), because statutory sexual seduction contains an element not included in the greater offense. Thus, the district court did not err in refusing to give a lesser-included-offense instruction on statutory sexual assault.

. . .

Here, the elements necessary to convict a defendant of sexual assault are contained solely in subsection 1 of NRS 200.366, whereas the age of the victim set forth in subsection 3 is a factor for determining the appropriate sentence for the offense. As clearly indicated by the statute's structure and language, the age of the victim is not essential to a conviction for sexual assault; it serves

only to increase the minimum sentence that may be imposed. Thus, it is a sentencing factor and not an element of the offense for purposes of the elements test.

Here, neither of the alternatives in NRS 200.364(5) is necessarily included in the offense of sexual assault. Both alternatives include the age of the victim (under 16 years of age) as an element of the offense that is required for conviction. 2009 Nev. Stat., ch. 300, § 1.1, at 1296. As explained above, the age of the victim is not an element required for a conviction for the greater offense (sexual assault). The alternative set forth in NRS 200.364(5)(b) also includes an intent element that is not included in the greater offense – that the sexual act was committed "with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires of [the defendant or the victim]." Id. Therefore, under the elements test, statutory sexual seduction is not a lesser-included offense of sexual assault, and Alotaibi was not entitled to an instruction on sexual statutory seduction. As such the district court properly refused to instruct the jury on statutory sexual seduction. We therefore affirm the judgment of conviction.

V AA 933-935, 942-945 (emphasis added).

This Court found that Statutory Sexual Seduction is not a lesser-included offense of Sexual Assault and Appellant was not entitled to an instruction on Statutory Sexual Seduction. Additionally, the district court determined that the outcome of the trial was not prejudiced because the jury chose to convict Appellant on the greater charge, Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age instead of the lesser-included charge of Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14.

It reasoned that counsel's actions did not prejudice Appellant because the jury rejected Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 and found Appellant guilty of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age.

The district court found as follows:

This court does not recognize that when a jury is left to decide between complete acquittal or conviction that it might be ineffective assistance for counsel to fail to request a lesser-related offense instruction; however, that is not the case in this matter. Here, the jury already had a lesser-related offense instruction of Lewdness. An additional lesser-related offense instruction of Statutory Sexual Seduction would not have resulted in a different outcome because the jury rejected the lesser-related offense of Lewdness when they convicted the Petitioner of Sexual Assault.

Finally, COURT FINDS, the decision not to request the lesser-related charge of Statutory Sexual Seduction did not prejudice the outcome of the jury.

Regarding the anal and oral penetration of A.J., the jury had the option to (1) convict Petitioner of a *category A* Felony for Sexual Assault, (2) convict Petitioner of a category A Felony for Lewdness, or (c) exonerate the Petitioner. Even if an instruction of a category C Felony for Statutory Sexual Seduction was included, this court fails to see how said instruction would have changed the outcome of this trial since the jury chose to convict on the greater charge of Sexual Assault instead of the lesserrelated charge of Lewdness.

To convict the Petitioner, of Sexual Assault, the jury had to consider whether or not A.J. consented to the sexual penetration. The jury was instructed on the definition of Sexual Assault (Instruction 8) and told that a good faith belief of consent was a defense to Sexual Assault

(Instruction 13). Additionally, the jury was instructed that any lewd or lascivious act, other than acts constituting the crime of sexual assault, upon or with the body, of a child under the age for 14 years is Lewdness with a child. (Instruction 14) and told that consent is not a defense to Lewdness (Instruction 16).

Therefore, COURT FINDS, if the jury had determined that A.J. had consented to the penetration, and therefore not a sexual assault, they could have still convicted Petitioner of Lewdness, which is still a lascivious act upon the body of a child under the age of 14 that does not constitute the crime of sexual assault. However, COURT FINDS, the jury chose to convict the Petitioner on the greater charge of Sexual Assault regarding the anal and oral penetration of A.J. Verdict at 2. COURT THEREFORE FINDS, adding another instruction for Statutory Sexual Seduction, which is a lesser charge then Lewdness, would not have had any effect on the outcome of this case.

VI AA 1095-1097.

While the district court found that counsel was ineffective for failing to request the Statutory Seduction jury instruction, it reasoned that it did not prejudice Appellant because the jury rejected Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 and found Appellant guilty of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age. It found that Count 4's Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 charge coincided with Count 3's Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age charge for the anal touching and penetration, just as Count 6's Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 charge coincided with Count 5's Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age charge for the oral touching and penetration.

VI AA 1094. Based on the verdict, the jury considered and rejected that the sexual penetration that occurred in Counts 3 and 5 was consensual. VI AA 1094-1096. Thus, the district court found that the outcome of the trial was not prejudiced because there was not a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. VI AA 1095-1097.

Moreover, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice because there was overwhelming evidence of his guilt. A.J. testified that Appellant prevented him from leaving the bathroom, began removing his clothes, and started to touch and kiss him. I AA 088-091. A.J. told Appellant he wanted to leave and kept telling Appellant to stop, but Appellant forced A.J. to bend over and forced his penis in A.J.'s mouth. I AA 090-092. A.J. also testified that Appellant forced him face down onto the bathroom floor, took a green bottle from the hotel bathroom and put a substance onto his penis and A.J.'s buttocks, and Appellant forced his penis into A.J.'s anus. I AA 092-093. Additionally, Appellant's friends testified that they were knocking on the door telling Appellant to "let the kid go." III AA 536. Appellant himself admitted to putting his penis into both A.J.'s mouth and anus. III AA 472. A.J. also had severe injuries to the back of his throat and rectal trauma and tears. IV AA 690-694. Thus, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant compares the instant case to McCoy v. Louisiana, 138 S. Ct. 1500, 200 L.Ed.2d 821 (2018), to demonstrate that counsel was ineffective. Petition, at 8-

10. In McCoy, the Supreme Court held that "counsel's admission of guilt over the client's express objection is error structural in kind." Id. at 1511, 200 L.Ed.2d at 821(emphasis added). The key point in this language is the qualifier, "over the client's express objection." Id. In McCoy, the defendant "vociferously insisted he did not engage in the charged acts and adamantly objected to any admission of guilt." Id. at 1505. Further, the defendant "testified in his own defense, maintaining his innocence." Id. at 1507.

The Supreme Court's ruling was clearly limited to instances where a defendant expressly objects to his counsel's concessions. In fact, the Supreme Court expressly stated that McCoy did not overrule its holding in Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175, 125 S. Ct. 551 (2004). McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1509, 200 L.Ed.2d at 821. The Court carefully distinguished the two cases by noting that "Nixon's attorney did not negate Nixon's autonomy by overriding Nixon's desired defense objective, for Nixon never asserted any such objective. Nixon 'was generally unresponsive' during discussions of trial strategy, and 'never verbally approved or protested' counsel's proposed approach." Id. at 1509.

This standard has been upheld by courts across the country. See People v. Burns, 38 Cal. App. 5th 776, 784, 251 Cal. Rptr. 3d 442, 449 (Ct. App. 2019) (stating: "McCov is thus predicated on a client's express objection to defense counsel's concession strategy."); see also People v. Lopez, 31 Cal. App. 5th 55, 66,

242 Cal. Rptr. 3d 451, 459–60 (Ct. App. 2019), review denied (Apr. 17, 2019) (stating: "In sum, we have found no authority, nor has appellant cited any, allowing extension of McCoy's holding to a situation where the defendant does not expressly disagree with a decision relating to his right to control the objective of his defense."); State v. Clark, 2012-0508 (La. 6/28/19), reh'g denied, 2012-00508 (La. 9/6/19), 278 So. 3d 364 (stating: "The record shows that appellant and counsel were aligned in their strategy to deny involvement in the murder while admitting participation in the attempt to escape. While the nature of their disagreement is not clear, it is clear that this record does not reflect an intractable disagreement about the fundamental objective of the representation."); State v. Barker, 2017-0469 (La. App. 4 Cir. 5/30/18) (holding that a McCoy issue was not ripe where the record did not adequately demonstrate the extent to which defendant disagreed with his counsel's strategy.).

In the instant case, Appellant never specifically requested a Statutory Sexual Seduction instruction on the record, and Appellant fails to apply the facts of McCoy to the instant case. Appellant claims that, based on "McCoy and Strickland together, both Strickland prongs are thus satisfied." Petition, at 10. However, Appellant, once again, completely overlooks the second prejudice prong of Strickland. The district court and the Court of Appeals both correctly found that Appellant cannot demonstrate that counsel's actions prejudiced him and there would have been a different outcome at trial. Therefore, Appellant's argument applying McCoy to the instant case is without merit because Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice.

The Court of Appeals ruling did not issue a decision that was inconsistent "with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court[.]" NRAP 40(B)(a)(2). In fact, the Court of Appeals strictly followed long-standing United States Supreme Court precedent by applying the standard of Strickland and finding that Appellant has failed to demonstrate the required second prejudice prong. Appellant claims that the Court of Appeals erred by finding sua sponte that there was no prejudice pursuant to Strickland and reaching its conclusion for a different reason than the district court. Petition, at 2. Instead of arguing the Court of Appeals found a ruling that was inconsistent with the Court of Appeals, the Nevada Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court as required by NRAP 40(B)(a)(2), Appellant argues that the Court of Appeals found a ruling inconsistent with the district court. It does not matter how the Court of Appeals reached its conclusion. The Court of Appeals and the district court both reached the same conclusion—Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice pursuant to Strickland.

Finally, Appellant requests a new trial or a second evidentiary hearing to remedy this "novel proposition relied upon by the Court of Appeals." Petition, at 11. After the decision of the Court of Appeals that Appellant was not prejudiced because he did not testify at his evidentiary hearing that he would have requested a Statutory Sexual Seduction jury instruction, Appellant now wants a second evidentiary hearing so he can testify he would have requested this instruction. The Court of Appeals decision found that Appellant could have demonstrated prejudice if he testified that he wanted the jury instruction and would not have waived it. Appellant should not be allowed to now provide additional testimony at this point in the proceedings in an attempt to refute the Court of Appeals' decision, as such testimony would most certainly be self-serving and unreliable.

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